IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 17-1934

MANDI MUMM,
Plaintiff – Appellant,

v.

JENNIE EDMUNDSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, d/b/a METHODIST
JENNIE EDMUNDSON HOSPITAL, EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS OF
WESTERN IOWA, L.L.C., and PAUL C. MILERIS, M.D.,
Defendants-Appellees.

**APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF
THE COURT OF APPEALS'
DECISION OF OCTOBER 10, 2018**

**PETITIONER-APPELLANT'S
APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW**

RANDALL J. SHANKS #AT0007211
SHANKS LAW FIRM
409 West Broadway
Council Bluffs, Iowa 51503
Telephone: 712-322-2600 ~ Fax: 712-323-5577
Randy@ShanksLaw.Net
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 2014, Mandi Mumm (Mandi) was released from prison to the custody of a half-way house (CH) to prepare her for transition back into the

community after her period of confinement. (App. P. 7)

On February 11, 2104, while a resident at CH, Mandi became ill and received permission from CH to go to the West Broadway Clinic for medical care. There, Mandi had complaints of headache, neck pain and dizziness. Mandi was diagnosed with a headache and acute sinusitis. Mandi returned to CH where she continued to have similar symptoms that waxed and waned. (App. P. 7)

On February 14, 2014, Mandi again received permission to go to the emergency room at Jennie Edmundson Hospital (JEH). Dr. Mileris was Mandi's emergency room physician. (App. P. 7) In the ER, Mandi had complaints of constant headache, nausea, vomiting, dizziness and photophobia. Mandi had a CT scan of her head which was read as normal and Mandi was discharged back to CH with the diagnosis of headache and dizziness/vertigo. The discharge instructions provided that Mandi was to follow up with her primary care physician at West Broadway Clinic within three to five days. Mandi continued to have similar symptoms.

On February 16, 2014, Mandi's condition worsened. Mandi became very ill and began exhibiting signs of having a stroke. Mandi again requested permission from CH employees to access medical care. One of the CH employees checked on Mandi and found that she looked ill, was sweating, her throat was swollen, she could not breathe and the right side of her face was drooping. This employee contacted a CH supervisor, Strnad and reported the

findings concerning Mandi's medical condition. Despite these findings, Strnad denied Mandi access to medical care. Mandi remained at CH in this condition for approximately 24 hours before being taken to the emergency room at JEH on February 17, 2014. (App. P. 7)

On February 17, 2014, Mandi arrived at the emergency room at JEH. Again, Mileris was Mandi's emergency room physician. After a considerable delay in diagnosis and treatment, Mandi was diagnosed as having a cerebral stroke with vertebral dissection. Because of the seriousness of her condition, on February 18, 2014, Mandi was transferred to the University of Nebraska Medical Center (UNMC). (App. P. 8)

When she arrived at UNMC, Mandi was already intubated and was put on a ventilator until she was stabilized. Mandi was hospitalized at UNMC until April 29, 2014, when she was transferred to Madonna Rehabilitation. Mandi received rehabilitation services at Madonna until her discharge on July 11, 2014. Mandi is confined to a wheel chair and suffers bilateral paralysis from her neck down. (App. P. 8)

As a result of CH and Strnad's denial of access to medical care on February 16, 2014, and the failure of JEH to timely diagnose and treat Mandi's stroke, the effects of the cerebral stroke and vertebral dissection were significantly worsened. (App. P. 8)

Mandi filed negligence claims against CH and Strnad alleging that they were negligent in refusing to allow Mandi access to medical care on February 16, 2014, and that said negligence was a cause of permanent injury and damage to Mandi. (App. P. 9)

Mandi settled her case against CH and Strnad before trial. During the trial, CH and Strnad were considered released parties pursuant to Iowa Code §668.2(3).

Mandi filed medical negligence claims against the other Defendants alleging a failure to diagnosis and treat Mandi's stroke condition. These were the claims that were tried to the jury.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the Court submitted Jury Instructions and Verdict Form and Special Interrogatories to the jury. The first four questions on the verdict form addressed whether the Defendants were negligent and whether said negligence was a cause of any item of damage to Mandi. (App. P. 52-53) Question five asked the jury what percentage of fault it attributed to Dr. Paul Mileris and to CH, Inc. (App. P. 53)

During deliberations, the jury posed the following two questions to the Court:

- a) As related to Question 5: If we attribute 25% fault to Dr. Paul Mileris and 75% to CH, Inc, would Mandi only get 25% since CH has been released; and
- b) If CH, Inc. has been released, how are they still named in the lawsuit.

(App. P. 55)

The Court contacted trial counsel to discuss the questions and a response thereto. Mandi's counsel moved the Court to answer "Yes" to the first question and refer the jury to the previously given jury instructions to answer the second. (App. P. 56) Counsel for the Defendants requested that the Court refer the jury back to the jury instructions.

The Court submitted the following answer to the jury's questions: "Please follow the instructions already given to you based upon the evidence presented at trial." (App. P. 55)

After receiving the Court's response, the jury returned a defense verdict. (App. P. 52)

Mandi filed a Motion for New Trial, which was denied by the Court. Mandi appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed despite a strong dissent.

ARGUMENT

DURING DELIBERATIONS, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE ANSWERED OR PROVIDED FURTHER INSTRUCTION(S) CONCERNING THE QUESTIONS SUBMITTED BY THE JURY REGARDING QUESTION NO. 5 ON THE VERDICT FORM?

Where there is confusion, there can be no justice. Here, the questions from the jury members demonstrated their confusion and lack of understanding. In this situation, a trial court should give additional instructions so the jury understands the effect of the decision it has been entrusted to make.

In the case at bar, there can be no question that the jury was confused and did not understand Question five. As a preliminary matter, in order to get to Question five, the jury would have had to answer Questions 1, 2, 3 and 4 in the affirmative. That would mean that the jury found that both Mileris and CH were negligent and that their negligence was a cause of Mandi's damages. The jury was obviously confused and did not understand the effect their answer to Question five would have on the damage amount awarded to Mandi. For all intents and purposes, the jury was trying to figure out a way to award Mandi 25% of her damages. If the Court would have answered "Yes" to the jury's first question, the result in this case would have been substantially different. By not answering "Yes" and simply referring the jury back to the instructions was no answer at all. Simply telling the jury to reread the instructions did not remedy the jury's confusion. If anything, the Court's response further confused and frustrated the jury in fulfilling its sworn duty to find the truth and do justice.

A jury's sole interest is to find the truth and do justice. Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 100.18. Jurors take an oath promising to render a true verdict based solely on the evidence introduced and in accordance with the instructions of the court. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.915(9). There can be no room for confusion or misunderstanding in the fulfillment of these responsibilities. The trial court has a duty to instruct the jury as to the law on all material issues supported by the evidence. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.924. Jury instructions are designed to explain the

applicable law to the jurors so the law may be applied to the facts proven at trial. *State v. Bennett*, 503 N.W.2d 42, 45 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997). Beyond the duty of instructing the jury, the trial court also has the duty to ensure the jury understands both the issues and the law it must apply. *Id.* Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.925 permits the trial court to give additional instructions to the jury.

As noted in the dissenting opinion in this case, "Jury instructions 'must convey the applicable law in such a way that the jury has a clear understanding of the issues it must decide.'" *Rivera v. Woodward Res. Ctr.*, 865 N.W. 2d 887, 892 (Iowa 2015). The dissent continued with, "Section 668.3(5) mandates a court inform the jury of the effects of comparative fault as applied to the jury's answers concerning fault. The court's failure to answer the jury's first question runs counter to the statutory mandate, and I conclude the court erred."

Following the analysis in the dissenting opinion, the question then became, was the error prejudicial to Mandi? *DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc.*, 772 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2009). Prejudice occurs and reversal is required when jury instructions contain a "material misstatement of the law" or are misleading or confusing. *Rivera*, 865 N.W.2d at 902. "We assume prejudice unless the record affirmatively establishes that there was no prejudice." *Id.* at 903. "When an instruction fails to convey a central principle of liability, this warrants a new trial." *Haskenboff v. Homeland Energy Sols., LLC*, 897 N.W.2d 553, 579 (Iowa 2017) (internal citations omitted). The dissent concluded by stating that the failure to

convey the effects of the application of comparative fault to the jury was the substantial equivalent of a material misstatement of the law thereby entitling Mandi to a new trial.

In addition to the law in Iowa, cases throughout the country have held that if there is evidence of jury confusion, the court has a duty to address that confusion. *United States v. Southwell*, 432 F.3d 1050, 1053 (9th Cir. 2005) ("Because it is not always possible when instructing the jury to anticipate every question that might arise during deliberations, the district court has the responsibility to eliminate confusion when a jury asks for clarification of a particular issue." (internal quotations omitted)); see also *Harrington v. Beauchamp Enters.*, 158 Ariz. 118, 761 P.2d 1022 1025 (Ariz. 1988) (holding that when jurors "express confusion or lack of understanding of a significant element of the applicable law it is the court's duty to give additional instructions on the law to adequately clarify the jury's doubt or confusion"); *State v. Juan*, 2010 - NMSC 041, 148 N.M. 747, 242 P.3d 314, 320 (N.M. 2010) ("[W]hen a jury requests clarification regarding the legal principles governing a case, the trial court has a duty to respond promptly and completely to the jury's inquiry."). In such situations, the court has a duty to give additional instructions on the law to adequately clarify the jury's doubt or confusion. See *Southwell*, 432 F.3d at 1053; *Harrington*, 761 P.2d at 1025; *Juan*, 242 P.3d at 320. This is true even when the jury is initially given correct instructions. *People v. Brouder*, 168 Ill. App. 3d 938,

523 N.E.2d 100, 105, 119 Ill. Dec. 632 (Ill. App. Ct. 1988); see also *Harrington*, 761 P.2d at 1025 (holding that the court has a duty to respond to the jury even when "the original instructions were complete and clear").

The Supreme Court has held that "when a jury makes explicit its difficulties a trial judge should clear them away with concrete accuracy." *Bollenbach v. United States*, 326 U.S. 607, 612-13, 90 L. Ed. 350, 66 S. Ct. 402 (1946); see also *United States v. Duran*, 133 F.3d 1324, 1334 (10th Cir. 1998) ("When a jury indicates through its queries that it is confused as to important legal standards in a case, particularly where there is an apparent basis for the confusion, it is plain error for the district court not to clarify that confusion.").

The jury instructions in this case did not explain the effect the comparative fault finding in Question five would have on the ultimate dollar amount awarded to Mandi. The jurors were confused by this and asked the Court for help in understanding this challenging legal concept. It is obvious the jury wanted Mandi to receive 25% of her damages from Mileris. In order to fulfill their duty to find truth and do justice, the jury wanted this question answered. All the trial court had to do was answer, "Yes". Mandi was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to do so. Directing the jury to reread the instructions provided no remedy for the jury's confusion.

CONCLUSION

Mandi respectfully requests that her Application for Further Review be granted and a new trial be ordered. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to address the jury's question regarding the effect of assessing 25% fault to Mileris. The jury's confusion and the trial court's failure to address the same was a material misstatement of the law which prejudiced Mandi thereby entitling her to a new trial.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner-Appellant respectfully requests oral argument concerning this Application for Further Review.