IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT  
NO. 17-1934

---

MANDI MUMM,  
Plaintiff-Appellant,  
vs.

JENNIE EDMUNDSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL, d/b/a METHODIST  
JENNIE EDMUNDSON HOSPITAL, EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS OF  
WESTERN IOWA, L.L.C. and PAUL C. MILERIS, M.D.,  
Defendants-Appellees.

---

---

**RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF  
THE DECISION OF THE IOWA COURT OF APPEALS  
OF OCTOBER 10, 2018**

---

**RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW OF  
DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS OF  
WESTERN IOWA, L.L.C. AND PAUL C. MILERIS, M.D.  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mary M. Schott, #AT0006979  
Thomas J. Shomaker, #AT0009128  
Robert A. Mooney, #AT0013181

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The trial court responded to the questions of the jury appropriately and within the scope of its discretion.

## **DISAGREEMENT WITH STATEMENT SUPPORTING FURTHER REVIEW**

Dr. Mileris disagrees with Ms. Mumm's Statement Supporting Further Review. Plaintiff / Appellant Mandi Mumm has failed to show good cause for this Court to exercise its discretion to grant further review. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b); Mumm v. Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hospital, 2018 WL 4923164, \*1 (Iowa Ct.App.).

No constitutional question is presented. Ms. Mumm has not identified a question of law that is undecided. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(2). To the contrary, the discretion of the Trial Court in responding to juror questions, and the standard of review, are well-settled.

Nor is there a "question of changing legal principles." *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(3). Ms. Mumm does not take issue with the relevant legal principles, only with their application to her case by both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals. Nor is this a case of broad public importance. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(4). Rather, it involves the application of

decided law to a certain set of facts which are of importance chiefly to the litigants in this case.

Ms. Mumm has not shown a genuine conflict with other decisions of the Iowa appellate courts. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1). Responses to jury questions are within the discretion of the Trial Court. Necessarily, the cases are fact-specific, as are the decisions. Ms. Mumm has not pointed to an actual conflict between Mumm and other decisions, based on different factual scenarios. Further, the legal principles applied are consistent in Mumm, Rule 1.925, and other cases.

Ms. Mumm argues there is a conflict between the Court of appeals decision and case law. The cases she cited are not in conflict with Mumm; they are different. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 6-7) For example, a criminal case cited involved the jury instructions given. State v. Bennett, 503 N.W.2d 42 (Iowa 1993). Similarly, two other cases involved jury instructions. Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Solutions, LLC, 897 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 2017) (criticizing jury instructions which "omitted central element" of claim and "was material misstatement of law"); Rivera v. Woodward Resource Center, 865 N. W.2d 887 (Iowa 2015) (finding giving of erroneous jury instruction on causation was harmless error). *See also* Deboom v. Raining

Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009) (discussing failure to give required jury instruction).

Nothing other than the speculation of Plaintiff's counsel supports the contention that the jury was confused or did not understand their verdict and the effect it would have on damages. To the contrary, the jury rendered a unanimous verdict finding Dr. Mileris was not negligent. (App. pp. 52-54) There was then no issue of comparing fault, since Dr. Mileris was not at fault, or of awarding damages, since Ms. Mumm was not entitled to them.

#### **DISAGREEMENT WITH STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Dr. Mileris disagrees with the Statement of Facts of Ms. Mumm. Specifically, Dr. Mileris takes issue with the assertion that Dr. Mileris, or the hospital where he worked (Co-Defendant Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hospital) were negligent or failed to timely diagnose and treat Ms. Mumm. Dr. Mileris consistently has denied any negligence on his part. Any assertion that Dr. Mileris was negligent contradicts the jury verdict. The jury found as follows:

**QUESTION NO. 1:** Was Dr. Paul Mileris negligent?

Answer: **No.**

(App. p. 52)

During deliberations, the jury submitted two written questions to the Trial Court. The first question gave hypothetical allocations of fault between CH, Inc. and Dr. Mileris, then asked what the effect of those allocations would be. The second question was why CH, Inc. was still in the lawsuit since it had been released. (App. p. 55) The Trial Court responded by directing the jury to follow the jury instructions based on the evidence from the trial. (App. p. 55)

The jury continued its deliberations and no further questions were asked. A unanimous verdict was returned in favor of Dr. Mileris and all other Defendants. (App. pp. 52-54)

## ARGUMENT

### **THE TRIAL COURT RESPONDED TO THE QUESTIONS OF THE JURY APPROPRIATELY AND WITHIN THE SCOPE OF ITS DISCRETION.**

Ms. Mumm's appeal of the jury verdict in favor of Dr. Mileris dealt solely with whether the Trial Court should have further instructed the jury when it posed questions to the Trial Court during its deliberations. The decision of the Trial Court "to give a supplemental instruction, or to refrain from doing so, rests within the sound discretion" of the Trial Court. State v. McCall, 754 N.W.2d 868, 871 (Iowa App. 2008). The language of Iowa R.

Civ. P. 1.925 makes it clear that providing further instructions to the jury is discretionary:

While the jury is deliberating, the court may in its discretion further instruct the jury, in the presence of or after notice to counsel. Such instruction shall be in writing, be filed as other instructions in the case, and be a part of the record and any objections thereto shall be made in a motion for a new trial.

Iowa R. of Civ. P. 1.925.

Appellate review is for an abuse of discretion. Mumm v. Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hospital, 2018 WL 4923164, \*1 (Iowa Ct.App.) (citing Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.925; McConnell v. Aluminum Co. Of America, 367 N.W.2d 245, 250 (Iowa 1985)). As to that discretion:

An abuse of discretion occurs when "the court exercises its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. A ground or reason is untenable when it is not supported by substantial evidence or when it is based on an erroneous application of the law.

Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000) (emphasis added) (quoting Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572 N.W.2d 565, 569 (Iowa 1997)). The Trial Court was presented with juror questions. The response



was a common one: “Please follow the instructions already given to you based upon the evidence presented in trial.” (App. p. 55) The “jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions.” Schwennen v. Abell, 471 N.W.2d 880, 887 (Iowa 1991) (citing Hoekstra v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 382 N.W.2d 100, 110 (Iowa 1986)). The jury asked no further questions, so presumably the jury re-read, and followed, the instructions given.

Ms. Mumm has not challenged on appeal the main set of jury instructions which were given, so they are presumed to have been proper. Huff v. Aulman, 28 N.W. 440, 442 (Iowa 1886) (noting “[w]e will presume, in the absence of any showing to the contrary, that the jury were properly instructed”). The jury instructions given were not the subject of Ms. Mumm’s appeal. Ms. Mumm’s argument that it was an abuse of discretion – *i.e.*, “clearly untenable” or “clearly unreasonable” -- for the Trial Court to direct the jury to follow the jury instructions from which Ms. Mumm did not appeal should fail in this Court, as it has in the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, Ms. Mumm appealed the denial of her Motion for New Trial. Appellate review was based on the reasons cited in Ms. Mumm’s Motion, which “was based on the trial court’s response to questions received from the jury.” Mumm, at \*2. The Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion in the responses given by the Trial Court to the jury’s

questions. It is only that decision from which Ms. Mumm may seek further review.

In this Application for Further Review, Ms. Mumm argues that further instruction was required, because the written jury instructions which were given were not clear. Ms. Mumm goes beyond the scope of the Court of Appeals decision, in essence challenging the jury instructions themselves. Ms. Mumm argues that the jury instructions given must convey the applicable law so that the jury has a clear understanding of what it must decide. (Appellant's Brief, p. 13) She argues that the Trial Court was required to inform the jury about comparative fault. Id. (citing Iowa Code § 668.3(5)) (discussing jury instructions, and evidence and argument during trial). However, the instructions given was not the basis upon which Ms. Mumm appealed. As the dissent noted in Mumm, "Iowa Code section 668.3(5) was not raised or argued on appeal." Mumm, at \*6, n.1. Further Review should not be granted on the basis of a roundabout challenge to the jury instructions given, when no appeal was taken based on those jury instructions.

Ms. Mumm's Application for Further Review cleaves to the dissenting opinion in Mumm, which discussed Iowa Civil jury Instruction 400.3 and the comments thereto, Iowa Code § 668.3(5), and rules applicable to jury instructions, among other things. However, the issue appealed by Ms. Mumm

involved a discretionary instruction given by the Trial Court. There are no requirements as to giving a further instruction. It is left to the discretion of the Trial Court. It is not grounds for appeal unless it is given “for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” Graber, 616 N.W.2d at 638. The Court of Appeals considered that issue, and found no abuse of discretion. Further review should be denied.

### **CONCLUSION**

Ms. Mumm has not demonstrated a basis for reversing the previous decisions denying her Motion for New Trial. Defendants-Appellees Emergency Physicians of Western Iowa, L.L.C. and Paul Mileris, M.D. request that the decision of the Trial Court denying a new trial and the decision of the Iowa Court of Appeals affirming the decision of the Trial Court be affirmed by this Court, and the jury verdict in favor of Defendants be allowed to stand.

### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Defendants-Appellees Emergency Physicians of Western Iowa, L.L.C. and Paul Mileris, M.D. hereby request to be heard in oral argument on this Resistance to Application for Further Review.